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STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION & BAIL STATUS
Whether the trial court committed plain error in instructing the The district court had jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 3231 and

jury on the conspiracy to murder federal officials.
. N ] . ] entered judgment on January 8, 2013. ER 2-8. On January 9, 2013,
Whether this Court should decline to consider Cox’s ineffective

assistance of counsel claim on direct appeal when there is no Cox filed a timely Notice of Appeal. ER 1.
evidence that Cox was denied effective assistance of counsel.

Whether, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the This Court has jurisdiction to review the defendant’s convictions

United States, any rational juror could have found Cox guilty of
conspiring to murder federal officials and soliciting others to
murder a federal official.

under 28 U.S.C. § 1291.

Cox is serving his sentence, and his projected release date is
Whether the trial court properly admitted evidence of Cox’s

statements and information about groups with which he was October 3, 2033.

involved.
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE
I. INTRODUCTION
Cox was indicted with two co-defendants, Coleman Barney and ~

Lonnie Vernon, in a 16-count indictment charging a conspiracy to

o
murder federal officers and employees, solicitation to murder a federal ¢ 5
/

official, conspiracy to possess unregistered silencers and destructive
devices, and other weapons violations. ER 9-32. After a lengthy jury
trial, Cox was convicted of all counts, except those charging Cox with
carrying a firearm during a crime of violence. SER 1-4. The case was
presided over by Senior United States District Judge Robert J. Bryan
(W.D. Washington).

Cox was the commander and leader of the Alaska Peacemakers
Militia, a “sovereign citizen” group, based in Fairbanks, Alaska. Co-
defendant Barney had the rank of “major” in Cox’s militia and co-
defendant Vernon was a “sergeant.” Between 2009 and 2011 when they
were arrested, Cox and the others conspired and planned to murder
federal officials'\l‘,//including federal law enforcement officers, US
Marshals, Transportation and Security Administration (TSA)

employees, and a Department of Homeland Security (DHS) employee,

Case: 13-30000, 02/24/2017, ID: 10332652, DktEntry: 121, Page 15 of 150
70
plan they called “2-4- 1&&21@ entailed, in the event that Cox or any
militia members were killed, Cox and the others killing two other
people (such as federal law enforcement officers and judges) in return.
Cox also believed that there was a federal plot to kill him and his family

and that the federal government was behind OCS’s efforts to take his

son away from hlrg’\’}f

Because Cox challenges the sufficiency of the evidence, the details
of the conspiracy need to be laid out in some detail. As will be seen
below, Cox began with rhetoric and angry encounters with federal and

state personnel, but by the time of his arrest he had’/developed\\a plan

for the imminent murdg/n federal officials, stockpiled his arsenal of
weapons, and enlisted others to join h_lé, /D
II. FACTS OF THE CASE

A. Fall 2009 - March 2011 :
In the fall of 2009, Cox traveled outside Alaska and made a

number of speeches related to the right to bear arms at meetings and

These ciicles
e V55 Alerts®
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as well.as state officials including Alaska State Troopers, state court

judges, and a State of Alaska Office of Children’s Services (OCS)

V)
employee.

During the conspiracies and until they were arrested, Cox,

Barney, and Vernon possessed a number of illegal and unreglstered

Barney had a trailer that contained a fully automatic machineg{ i
=
silencer attached to a .22 pi{/ tol,m

Zmerous semi-automatic assault
rifles, thousands of rounds of ammunition, tannerite, 17 grenade bodlgiij

grenade fusg? OC gas camstﬁs gas canisté; m launché{s’?

and “Hornet’s Nest” anti-personnel rourfdgif addition, the defendants
had weapons, legal and illegal, in their homes and vehicles.
Cox repeatedly threatened federal and state offici ring the
conspiracies and took steps to act upon those threats. For instance, Cox
gathered information about federal and state employees that he wanted
killed in the event he was arrestg:r’m case of a government collapse.”

The defendants shared beliefs that the current government was no

longer operating under the rule of law, but under the rule of force. They

ey . 7 RN
considered themselves sovereign citize{;j;??ox and others develo@

Case: 13-30000, 02/24/2017, ID: 10332652, DktEntry: 121, Page 16 of 150

conventions. See Exs. 917-921;! ER 652, 704, 707; AER 236-45, 1065-
69, 1091, 1094-96, 1144-67, 1613-20; Cox Ex. FSC-6. Cox spoke about
his previous interactions with law enforcement, including the TSA.
AER 1613-20. He also described his development of the “Liberty Bell
network,” a functioning “common law court,” and a militia. Id. He
discussed the command structure of his militia and claimed that he had
a 3500-man force that was equipped with GPS jammers, cell phone

jammers, bombs, rocket launchers, grenade launchers, claymores,

machine guns, and other items. 4.

1. Cox tasks others to compile information on
federal and state officers and employees to
kill

Back in Alaska, Cox and Michael Anderson met in Fairbanks and
plotted their strategy if the government declared martial law. AER
266-67.. Cox and Anderson agreed government leaders would have to be

/
klll\d"\ AER 268-69. Anderson testified: “It was just generally if it

1 Unless otherwise noted, the citations are to the government’s trial
exhibits. The recordings were the evidence at trial. For ease of
reference, the government includes the transcripts in the record,
however the recordings are available should the Court wish to review
them.

6
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comes to that, you know, we'd have to identify who was doing it and
take them out before they could come for us, and — I mean, kill them
before they could come for us.” AER 268. Cox and Anderson decided to
create a list or database that would contain the names of government
officials, together with their/ }:gg\me address information, they would kill
when martial law took effg;tiéﬁR 268, 271-75.

In spring 2010, Cox asked Anderson about the progress of the
database, and told Anderson that he thought there was a federal “hit
team after [Cox] and [Cox] wanted to know who they might be and
where they might be.” AER 315-16. Anderson and Cox discussed how
to gather information about federal officials. AER 317-18, 321-22.
During that conversation, Anderson sketched the federal building in
Fairbanks, and the men discussed conducting surveillance. AER 321-
23; AER 1571. Also at that meeting, Cox provided Anderson with the
names of Alaska State Troopers G.T., B.B., and R.W. to include in the
database. AER 317-20, 1571. Cox also provided Anderson with the
names of three federal officials, N.C. with “DHS border conm'ﬂol," TiS,:
with “DHS,” and T.B. with “TSA.” AER 323-25, 1571. Anderson wrote

down this information from Cox. AER 323. Regarding TSA employee

Case: 13-30000, 02/24/2017, ID: 10332652, DktEntry: 124, Page 19 of 150

Cox also directed Anderson to compile information about several
Alaska State Troopers. AER 318-20, 326-27, 331-35. For example, Cox
called Anderson and gave him the names R.W. and L.P. AER 326-27,
1572. Also, in the fall of 2010, Cox called Anderson and asked him to
find out where Alaska State Trooper M.J. was based. AER 331.
Anderson told Cox that M.J. worked in Fairbanks. AER 333.

Later, in February 2011, Cox provided Trooper M.J.’s information
to one of the government cooperating witnesses, Gerald “J.R.” Olson, on
a post-it note. AER 721-31, 1278-1294, 1498-99. Cox described Trooper
M.J. as the “the guy we’ve been having problems with.” AER 1288-89.
The post-it note showed Trooper M.J.’s name, with property lot and
block number information.? AER 332-35. In addition, the post-it note
included personal information about Trooper M.J., that he was “former
Army.” AER 1288-89, 1498-99. Cox provided Olson with Alaska State
Troopers’ personal addresses “to add them to the list and to — to have

available for [them] if [Cox] initiated 241.” AER 72{ )
k\,/f

3 At trial, Trooper M.J. testified that the information on the post-it note
accurately reflected the location of where he was living in 2007. AER
434-36.
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T.B., Cox told Anderson: “She’s someone I know who goes to my church,
a nice lady, but, you know, one day she may just follow orders and she
may have to go.” AER 325.

Anderson’s notebooks reflecting some of the information for the
database were admitted at trial. AER 1570-72; ER 620. On the same
page of Anderson’s notepad where the names of federal employees N.C.,
T.S., and T.B. appear, there was also a notation at the top of the page
with phone numbers and the name “Vernons” with two lines indicating
“I need names of Federal Marshals” and “Paperwork from Vernons?”
AER 1571. After that meeting with Cox, Anderson looked on the
internet for “federal marshal’ something or other.” AER,328-31. On a
page in his notebook, Anderson wrote “Federal Hit Li@he top, then
wrote “[J.J.]; Federal Marshal; Anc.”2 ER 620. Anderson testified that
for the database he collected home addresses, standard addresses,
street addresses, plot numbers from the State of Alaska Department of
Natural Resources, and public information using Google website

searches. AER 271-72, 312.

2 J.J. is a Deputy United States Marshal based in Anchorage, Alaska.
AER 411-12.
8
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2. Cox instigates confrontations with his
targets*

Cox instigated confrontations with federal officials, including TSA
employees T.B., D.B., and J.H., and DHS employee N.C., and with state
officials, including Alaska State Trooper R.W. AER 418-25, 439-40,
446-47, 450-71, 903-09, 911-20.

TSA employee T.B. had hosted lunches at her house for college
students from her church, which Cox attended (including wear body
armor once). AER 911-14. At one point Cox called T.B. and asked
whether he was on the “no-fly” list. AER 914-15. T.B. refused to
provide Cox with that information and told T.S., the federal security

director at the airport in Fairbanks, that Cox attempted to obtain that __

\
e
information from her. AER 915-16. T.B. was added to Cox’s “hit lisﬁ/%r"

AER 1571.
Cox approached DHS employee N.C. when she was off-duty but in

uniform at Walmart with her daughter. AER 419-23. N.C. described

+ TSA employees T.B. and D.B., DHS employee N.C., Alaska State
Troopers R.W. and M.J., and State of Alaska OCS employee W.W. each
testified regarding their interactions with Cox. AER 371-77, 418-36,
439-40, 446-47, 450-71, 903-09, 911-920.

10
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Cox as “confrontational, a little bit aggressive.” AER 421. After
learning that she worked for U.S. Customs, Cox said “something to the
effect of [she] was okay if [she] worked for Customs, but he doesn’t like
to see a lot of feds, basically, in Fairbanks.” AER 420. Cox told her that
“he didn’t believe [Department of Homeland Security] was a legally
formed department within the government” and that he had a few
thousand armed men in his militia. AER 422. N everthelesslIDliIS

employee N.C. was also added to Cox’s “hit list.” AER 15]

In January 2010 Cox approached TSA employees D.B. and J.H.
while they were working at the Fairbanks airport. AER 903-09. Cox
asked if the dogs they had were TSA dogs, and then claimed that they
“were violating his rights by having the canines.” AER 903. Cox called
D.B. and J.H. “Nazis” and started to get loud. AER 906-07. D.B.
described the tenor and tone of Cox’s voice as “a little aggressive and
confrontational.” AER 905. D.B. and J.H. then walked away from Cox.
AER 905, 907. D.B. went outside on the curb, Cox followed her, and
came up close behind her. AER 907-08. When she turned a;'ound, Cox
took a picture of her with his cell phone. AER 907. When D.B. asked

him what he was doing, Cox responded “I need to know who the Nazis

11
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retaliate even if he were only arrested, making it clear that his violent

plans no longer were limited to an unlikely hypothetical, but to a

concrete, imminent evenf. -/

Cox also obtained personal information about Alaska State
Trooper R.W. AER 450-53. Prior to May 2010, Cox had met with
Trooper R.W. at the Alaska State Trooper office in Fairbanks. AER
437-38. Twice in one day over Mother’s Day weekend 2010 Trooper
R.W. observed Cox drive by his house, located in an isolated area. AER
450-71. On the night of June 9, 2010, Cox approached R.W.’s home
unannounced. AER 453-54. R.W. “assumed there was going to be a
problem” and felt exposed and vulnerable. AER 455-56. R.W. sent his
wife and children upstairs, drew his weapon, and took a position behind
a vehicle when he saw Cox driving up the driveway. AER 454-56. Cox’s
wife, Marti Cox, was with him. AER 457. R.W. could see that Cox was
wearing body armor. AER 468. A conversation ensued wherein Cox
talked to R.W. about his problems with OCS, the fact that he had
relinquished his United States citizenship, and his militia, v;rhich Cox
said had 3,500 members. AER 462. Cox claimed that he was concerned

that members of his militia would harm troopers, judges or their

13
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are.” AER 907-8. Shortly after that encounter, D.B. saw the TSA
Federal Security Director T.S. speaking with Cox, and “by their body

language, it looked a little confrontational.” AER 909. TSA employee

T.S. was added to Cox’s “hit list.” AER 1571,
Cox’s mother-in-law described statements about TSA agents Cox

made during Thanksgiving 2010:

The most specific remark that I heard him say was

when they were talking in reference to two TSA agents,

and the conversation was talking about what they

would like to do if — if the federal government, and

talking specifically about TSA agents, did something to

his family, that they would go in and burn the homes of

those agents and if the families were there and were

running out during the fire, they would shoot them

down.
AER 910. Cox’s mother-in-law further testified that she knew that Cox
had “a list of — of things that if the government crossed the line
pertaining to those certain things, they were prepared to act.” Id. Her
testimony also highlighted an important shift in the threats Cox was
making; no longer was his planning solely for a hypothetical
“declaration of martial law.” Cox had begun to assert that he would

trigger his plans to kill federal agents if they “did something to his

family,” and later if Cox were l{ﬂl!?ﬁ'mally, he issued instructions to

12
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families, and troopers’ families if something happened to him or his
child. AER 462-64. Cox told R.W. that “he wouldn't do it, but he
couldn’t control members of his militia and he didn’t know how they
would react if something happened to him or his family, or they were —

he was taken into custody.” AER 463. R.W. understood Cox’s words to

be a veiled threat against hi,ééi “AER 463, 468. Cox phrased his
statements along the lines of “he would hate to see troopers or their

families killed or injured.” AER 464.

3. Cox enlists Anderson to move his weapons
and participate in security detail

In 2010, Cox was charged with domestic violence. AER 273-75.
Soon after, Cox asked Anderson to remove weapons from Cox’s home
and Anderson agreed. AER 296. Anderson observed a silencer, a Sten
machine gun (which Cox previously told Anderson was fully automatic),
and several grenade hulls at Cox’s home. AER 296-301.

In spring/early summer 2010, Cox asked Anderson to be part of a
“security detail” for Cox during his meeting with OCS as a result of
Cox’s domestic violence. AER 302-04. Anderson agreed, and the next
day put his AK-47 firearm and tactical vest in his vehicle and drove to
the meeting location. AER 305-09. Cox tasked Anderson to find out

14
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where W.W., the OCS officer in charge of his case, lived. AER 303, 310-
12, 1573-75. Cox explained “he needed to know where she was because
if she hurts his family she might get a bullet through her windshield.”
AER 313. Following Cox’s directive, Anderson obtained W.W.’s home

e

address. AER 310-11, 377-79, 157345,

4. Cox holds militia commissioning ceremony

By summer 2010, Cox’s public statements and aggressive
encounters with federal and state officials had created concern, and the
FBI asked Olson, a cooperating witness with active ties to the militia
movement, to contact Cox to see if he could learn more.about his plans.
AER 934-41, 959-61. Olson had been charged With(gjjony in the State
of Alaska and in hopes of some leniency in his sentencing had been
providing assistance to law enforcement. AER 954-58. In part because
Olson had previous ties to a militia in Montana, Olson’s background
suggested that he would be able to develop a relationship with Cox.
AER 959. Olson made his initial contact with Cox in the summer of
2010. AER 961.

In August 2010, Cox held a militia “commissioning ceremony” at

Barney’s residence for new members to be commissioned in and sworn
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was interviewed at King Jesus North Pole (KJNP), a television station

near Fairbanks. ER 515; AER, 593-94, 1514-19. Cox instructed the

f a “plainclothes” “agent” “draws down”

=5

security details to shoot to

on Cox or one of the other protectees. ER 515; AER 1502, 1518, 152{9.%};

Cox held several meetings to organize the “security” teams for his
court hearing and KJNP appearance, anticipating the arrival of federal
agents. AER 586, 1178-90, 1606. A whiteboard titled “Security Team”
seized from Cox’s house described the plans, together with options for
responding to plainclothes agents, including “lead poisoning.” AER
1502. In addition, handwritten notes seized from the residences of Cox,
Barney, and Vernon reflected Cox’s directions for the security detail
such as “use grenades to swpﬁ\ 515; AER 1518, 1569.

During one of the briefings, Cox instructed his men that they had

to be prepared to kill federal agents and described a scenari@}‘»vsghere

s )
they would stomp the killed federal agents through the fcie/gi 590-
91. Cox called the federal agents “soulless assassins” and said: “If we

kill one of them, they’re not going to be-missed, they’re not going to

come looking for you.” AER 1183-8’\”’:V
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into his militia. AER 558-59. Olson attended the militia commissioning
ceremony. AER 566. Lonnie Vernon and his wife Karen also attended.
Id. At that meeting, Cox told the attendees that there was a federal
assassination team out for him and his family. AER 1169-71. Cox also
described his version of his dispute with OCS. AER 1171-76. He
accused the federal government of being behind the OCS investigation
and boasted that he told a state court judge, “We don’t mean any harm
to anyone, but if you want a war, we've got one hell of a war with your
name on it.” AER 1177.

5. Cox instructs security details for court

hearing and KJNP interview to kill federal
agents if need be

In November 2010, Cox enlisted a “security detail” to protect him,
his wife, and common law “judge” David Bartels from the supposed
federal assassination team. AER 587-88, 1116-20, 1178-90, 1502, 1518.
This armed and body-armor attired security detail was arranged by Cox
specifically to “protect” Cox while he attended a court hearing in
downtown Fairbanks related to a state misdemeanor weapons charge
against him. ER 514; AER 589-90, 596, 1117-24, 1129-32, 1515-17.

Another security detail was planned for later that evening while Cox
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Cox told the security team members that they needed to be “guys
who are — who've come to terms with the fact that if somebody shows up
at the TV station, because it’s an hour long and it’s live — to,txy to kill

— A\

“AER

Judge Bartel [sic] or Marti [Cox], you might have to kill h(Im
1184-85. Cox also said that he had bought a “whole bunch of hornet
nest grenades” to be loaded into grenade launchers attached to their
rifles, which he could provide to the security detail members. AER
1185.

Barney was in ch%rgp of Cox’s security detail at KINP to “protect”

B
Cox from federal age ts.” 515; AER 1113-15, 1117-18, 1123-24,

1518-19. Barney was armed that night with a 37mm launcher loaded
with “Hornet’s Nest” anti-personnel rounds attached to his AR-15. AER
1121-22, 1138-43. Vernon and Gary Brockman, other members of the
security detail at KJNP, were also armed that night as part of Cox’s
security detail. AER 402, 1122, 1611.

When they arri\{g\d‘ the security detail set up lights, established a

L)

vehicular funnel poi%{t,, nd stopped at least one incoming vehicle while

visibly armed with weapons. AER 391-92, 413-17. Barney set up on

18
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the perimeter, wearing body armor. AER 1142. Another member
patrolled the property surrounding KJNP on a 4-wheeler. AER 1141.

6. Cox makes threats at state courthouse

During a December 10, 2010, hearing on Cox’s misdemeanor
weapons charge, Cox told the judge that:

Soulless federal assassins have made threats on the
lives of my wife and children. This, coupled with your
long established and well documented — ah, practice of
refusing to ascertain the truth, leaves me but one
inescapable conclusion: You are rebellious impostors
evincing a design to reduce us under absolute despotism.
We want peace and friendship, not war. But should you
thrust war upon us by your continued aggression, my
men and I, along with all those who love liberty and law,
will cry out to the just and moral God of the universe,
and with a strong reliance on his providence, fulfill our
moral duty to protect our families and repel the lawless
aggressors who seek to do us harm. We know who you
are and we know who you aren’t. We wish no harm on
anyone, and, reciprocally, we will not tolerate harm from
anyone, especially not from you. Winston Churchill,
when surrounded by danger said, quote, “We sleep
soundly in our beds because rough men stand ready in
the night to visit violence on those who would harm us.”
I sleep soundly. If you continue to harm or threaten us
in any way, we have the right to defend ourselves. The
sword of a righteous God is swift to destroy those who
oppress the innocent.

AER 1489-90. Cox continued by indicating that he sees the judge on the

marathon course and at Fred Meyer and sees the prosecutor around
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(

pineapple grenades as you — as you can get, becausgsw;ejijust, um,
g
thread the bottoms and stick an ALS fuse in them:2-F

643-45, 648-
50, 1193. Cox also explained that if they could get pineapple grenades
with the hole in the bottom, they could tap it, put a bolt in it, put
gunpowder in, and put in a new fuse. AER 649-51, 1191-98. Cox added
that he already had the new fuses. AER 650, 1191-98. Cox then
brought up C-4 explosives, which “would be good to have,” and said he
knew someone who would make C-4 for them and that he had discussed
the price with him, but it would depend on the shelf life of the C-4.5
AER 1197-98.

Vegpgmand Olson traveled to Anchorage and followed Cox’s
directio’\ S ER 655. Vernon and Olson drove directly to a military
surplus store in Anchorage owned by Bill Fulton, whom Cox knew.®
Vernon asked to buy grenades from Fulton. ER 657-60, 671-72, 1237-

38. During subsequent conversations that weekend, Vernon said that

5 C-4 is a pliable explosive. AER 651.
6 Fulton hosted the convention in Anchorage. Fulton owned a military
surplus store and was a firearms dealer. AER 645-46, 659-60.
Unbeknowst to the defendants and Olson, Fulton was also cooperating
with the FBI. AER 673-74.
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town, and: “There’s a lot of people out there that would just as soon
come and kill you in your home at night, than come and argue with you
in your court by day. And that is just as bad and wrong as, ah,

pretended governments or governments that are acting outside of the

/
law.” AER 1491—9-.2\‘

A few days later, after a subsequent court hearing, Cox wanted to
serve some papers on another state court judge. AER 922. Alaska
State Trooper Schoenberg told Cox that, to get the paperwork served,
Cox needed to file the paperwork with the clerk’s office on the lower
level of the courthouse. AER 922-25. Trooper Schoenberg was
surrounded in close proximity by Cox and about four other men with
Cox (including Barney) and Cox told him “We’ve got you guys out-
manned and nned, and we could probably have you guys all dead

!

)
in one night{ AKR 921-31, 1623.

7. Cox sends Vernon and Olson to Anchorage
to attend militia convention and buy
grenades

The month before he was arrested, Cox directed Vernon and Olson
to go to Anchorage to attend a convention on behalf of his militia. AER

639-41. Before their trip, Cox told Vernon and Olson to “get as many
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he wanted to purchase grenades, 50 grenade fuses, and a suppressor.
AER 671-74, 675-78, 685-86, 1204-06, 1220-22, 1228-29, 1243-44, 1252-
53. While in a hotel room with Olson and Fulton, Vernon described the
plan:

Mr. Fulton: Yeah, but check this out. We were on this
whole thing with Schaeffer [Cox], and I want
to talk to you about this, but you are not
going to cause the fucking militias in the
state of Alaska to rise up.

Mr. Vernon: No, no, no, no, no.

Mzr. Fulton: Schaeffer [Cox], on the other hand, will.

Mr. Vernon: Yeah, he will. That’s what he wants. He
wants the big show. But what I'm getting at
— what he said to them —

Mr. Fulton: Yeah.

Mr. Vernon: - and I saw that — is they're running fucking
scared. There’s a whole bunch of them lil’
dickweed judges out there. But you know
what? We know all of them. We know where
they live. We know the — the district — the
assistant district attorney. He's a fucking
Nazi, little fuckwad.

Mr. Vernon: We're going — we're peeking over the fence.
They’re looking at, you know, what — what
will come — what will happen when - if we
take him down? What if they do come to our
house? Well, you know what? That was
already pre-planned.

Mr. Fulton: What was?

Mr. Vernon: The family thing. We made it a long — pact a
long time ago.

22
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My, Fulton: What family thing? What the fuck are you
talking about?
Mr. Vernon: Now, listen to me. Listen to me. If they fuck

with one of us —

Mr. Fulton: Uh-huh.

Mr. Vernon: - when we go to their house, all of them with
the titles —

Mr. Fulton: Yeah.

Mr. Vernon: We'll drag them out and they will never find

them.

Mr. Fulton: Okay, but not for families. You're not talking
about going after innocents.

Mr. Vernon: We're talking about everyone involved in
this.

Mer. Fulton: Youre not talking about going after
innocents.

Mr. Vernon: First — no, the first round —

Mr. Fulton: No children.

Mr. Vernon: The first round will be all the ones involved
in it.

Mr. Olson: Like the judges or —

Mr. Vernon: Yup. They’re going to get gone. They can put
up all the people around their house, all the
snipers they want, whatever they want to do.
But one way or the other, they won’t know
when it'll happen.

r. Vernon: Okay, okay. If they pull a gun when we go in
there, too, I'm sorry, it’s part — you — you —
you made it happen, asshole. .

Mzy. Fulton: Yeah, but what you’re talking about is

premeditated, and you know that.

Mr. Vernon: Well —

Mr. Fulton: No, I'm not going to sit here and fucking play

pansies and then (inaudible).
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because it’s war, it doesn’t even really have to be the

ones that did it. . . .. And it’s not just a war in fact, it’s

a war declared by them, explicitly, without mincing

any words, and so I think it’s absolutely morally

allowable that if they arrested Ken [Thesing] or

arrested me, to go in and arrest two of them. . . .. If

they kill one of us, we go kill two of them.
ER 390-91.

Cox continued that he “would be well within my rights to go drill
McConahy in the forehead and any of these people that are propagating
NE

this because they're posing a huge threat to my life and my family.2
392; AER 707-08. “McConahy” was the state court judge presiding over
his pending criminal case. AER 708. After Olson sought clarification
about “2-4-1,” Cox instructed, “go for the ones that are either authorized
or failed to prevent,” ER 394, reasoning that “[b]ecause then they’ll give
people pause to authorize or fail to prevent.” Id.; AER 708. Cox
continued, “I'd say the trooper that did it and the trooper that
authorized it and the judge that authorized it. You know, it would be —
kind of the top people.” ER 394-95. Cox expressed that it’s a tough

issue because “it’s easier to get ready to die than it is to kill.” ER 396.

Nevertheless, Cox said that he was willing to kill. ER 397.
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fr. Vernon: They make it pre-meditated the day they do
wrong to us.

AER 1260-65. See also AER 688-90.

8. The “2-4-1” Plan; “I'm not against mailing
heads to people”

On February 12, 2011, Cox held a meeting at Ken Thesing’s
residence in Fairbanks with Barney, Thesing, and Olson. AER 699.
Thesing had the rank of “major” in Cox’s militia. See AER 1587 (text
from Cox to Barney on 12/7/10: “Just talked to Maj. Thesing about a
battle plan”); AER 635-36. Cox said that he was not going to appear at
his next scheduled court hearing, and instead raised the idea of “2-4-1,”
a plan whereby if Cox or any militia members were killed then Cox and
the others would kill two other people (such as law enforcement and
judges) in retribution. ER 377-98; AER 700, 702-03, 706. During this
meeting, Cox said that two state court employees, M.G. and R.W., “need
to dangle together like a windchime.” ER 376; AER 701-02. When
Barney asked whether “2-4-1” would be triggered by Cox being arrested,
Cox responded:

I believe that it is absolutely morally allowable [to
activate 2-4-1] if they were to come and arrest Ken

[Thesing] for the three of us to go kick in the judges’
door and — the troopers and arrest two of them. And
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After hearing from Barney, Thesing, and Olson, Cox summarized:

All right, well, let me give you guys my thoughts. I really
appreciate your thoughts on that. My thoughts on 241 is that
we're not in a strong enough position to execute more than
once, we're not in a strong enough position to follow through,
and so at this point what we should do is do everything we can
to avoid it, but that what we should do is we should bluff it for
all it’s worth and pray for God’s protection and shielding hand
and, uh, work and train and get ready to where we cas

that 241 into a real ability instead of just (inamdibleiéa Z

ER 409. Cox and Barney then discussed next steps:

Barney: In the meantime training up guys and (inaudible)
guys through and getting them ready.

Cox: So, that we can — so that we can turn it from a bluff
toa—toa—

Barney:  An action.

Cox: Yeah, and we'll take the — we're ready — and the

road I'll take is, we're ready and we could have you
dead in minutes, but we are long suffering and we
want to be your friends. You've got to stop
pushing, we want to be at peace. We're going to
continue long suffering, but not forever.
ER 413-14. Barney then volunteered that they should “get those little
target, bull’s-eye things, you put them on the . . . back windows of all
the cop cars.” ER 414; AER 714-15. Because Cox had decided not to

appear for his next court hearing on the weapons charge and they

anticipated that an arrest warrant would be issued, Barney offered that
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Cox and his family could hide out at rental cabins owned by Barney.
ER 415-16; AER 714-15.

At the meeting, Cox also discussed the grenades he possessed and
expressed his desire to get grenades with longer delayed fuses. ER 417-
19; AER 716-17. Cox told Barney, Thesing, and Olson: “T would like to
have eight-second fuses and powder that burns fast enough to really
send that shrapnel flying because we’re using the two second fuses right
now.” ER 418.

9. Cox becomes a fugitive, continues to

prepare for “2-4-1,” and moves his weapons
stash

As planned, Cox failed to appear for his February 14, 2011, court
hearing. AER 732-33. Barney and Olson attended the hearing to find
out if an arrest warrant was issued for Cox. Id. Judge McConahy
indeed issued an arrest warrant. AER 738.

Cox, now a fugitive, moved into the Vernons’ residence. AER 743-
44, Cox, Lonnie and Karen Vernon, and Olson met at the Ver.néons'
residence on February 14 and 15, 2011. AER 743-49, 1295-@0}( and

Vernon talked about ways to set up booby traps to block access to tx el
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A few days later, Cox and his family moved into Barney’s home.
AER 774-79. Cox took along his firearms, his body armor, and CS
grenades.” AER 777-78, 784-85.
At a meeting later that day attended by Cox, Barney, and Olson,
Cox spoke again about the “2-4-1” plan. AER 784-89. Cox said, “if we
all shook hands and went out of here to go roll judges’ heads, I mean,
we're definitely morally justified.” AER 1368. Barney agreed. Id.
Regarding “2-4-1,” Cox said: “But I can say that I think for right now, a
241 . .. would be running out ahead of the scale and sacrificing our self
to no avail.” AER 1375. Barney responded:
[T]hat our troops — and that’s the scale starting to tip,
when they see more people that start to wake up and
come to our aid, and even if they still have greater
numbers, they’ll be a point to where even with guerilla
warfare and stuff like that, two for one [2-4-1] becomes
a real possibility at that point. . . . Because you
actually have enough people on your side that you can

— you can pay 241 for a while.

AER 1376.

7 Cox and his family continued to live at Barney’s residence until the
day of his arrest, March 10, 2011.
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Vernons’ house by law enforcement. AER 1299-1302, Cox described his
vision of the plan:

Cox: It gets bloody when they’'ve got — when we've got
our crap together enough to — to make a good effort
at round two.

Olson: Yeah.

Cox: Round one is going to be easy. Round two is where
the work starts.

Olson: Yeah.

Cox: And we can do round one right now. I think the
blood starts is when we've got — when we feel like
we've got the — it starts either — at either just the
point of total desperation when there’s nothing
else and it’s just a Hail Mary before you get
swallowed up alive, or when you've got the — the
power to possibly prevail.

Olson: Yeah. When — when they recognize the power —

Cox: It’s not like we're waiting for them to get bad

(fgugh.
AER 1309-13 0;; ox later summarized, “So, what do we do? We kill a
whole butt load of them and then offer peacel AKR 1318. The next
day, Cox and Olson discussed a variety of firearms and scopes, and Cox
explained that they were probably going to be doing their battling at

houses instead of in the woods. AER 764-65, 1331.
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Cox said that his “subconscious goal was to be able — was to get
prepared to execute a 241 that needed to be — I think that it needs three
— three more things here.” AER 1377. Cox said one thing it needs is
“more public pain.” AER 1378. Second, Cox said, “we just need more
numbers.” AER 1379.

Later in the conversation, Cox and Barney agreed that if the
government took one of their kids, “that’s a 241." AER 1387-90. Cox
also said: “Well, I'm not going to target women and children, but I'm not
opposed to killing them either, you know. I mean, God had them kill
men, women, and children.” AER 1391.

Cox told Barney and Olson that “[t]he purpose of killing somebody
is to prevent them from killing the innocent” and “I'm not against some
like drastic, shocking things either, like, you know, mailing heads to
people.” AER /LB?LL. Cox then said “I don’t want to gloat. J\‘lSt make
people Suffel‘z\:;,/A%R 1395. Cox also told Barney and Olson, “I think if
you got the time and resources, you ought to give them proper burial,

you know?” AER 1397.
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Cox also told Barney and Olson that while the victims had value
as human beings, “that doesn’t mean that I won'’t kill you” or “that I
wouldn't hang your body from a lamppost to deter others.” AER 1398.

Two days later, Cox took Barney and Olson to a property he
owned where he stored weapons in a shed. AER 787-801. At Cox’s
direction, Barney and Olson moved assault rifles, ammunition, and
approximately eight grenades from Cox’s shed into Barney’s truck. Id.

10. Cox and others continue to build their
arsenal of weapons

The next day, Cox, Barney, and Olson met again at Barney’s
residence. AER 803-04, 1399-1411. Barney relayed a conversation he
had with an “arms dealer and explosive dealer” about a rumor that
eight grenades had been stolen from Fort Wainwright and Cox had
them. AER 1401. Barney continuéd, “Me and Schaeffer [Cox] were
talking about it and thinking eight grenades doesn’t sound like a lot
unless you're one of the Judges or DAs we're looking at.” AER 1401-02.

Later in February 2011, Cox, Barney, and Olson met at Barney’s
residence and discussed getting silencers. AER 806-07, 1412-19. Cox
ordered a pistol and silencer matched set from Olson. AER 1420-21.
Cox then discussed with Barney and Olson how a silencer would work
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the price of grenades, Cox said: “But, yeah, if [Bill Fulton] could come
down even to I'd say anything below $70, I would be feeling like I can
buy as much as I want. And if he gets it at $50, I think I'd stock up.”
AER 1458.

In March, 2011, Olson informed Cox that only eight grenades
would be available for purchase from Fulton. AER 1624-27, Ex. 30-06.
Olson told Cox that he had told Fulton they wanted them, to which Cox
responded: “Yeah and as many more as you can get.” Id., AER 1626.

The Vernons similarly had placed an order for weapons from
Olson. AER 802-03, 840, 849. Lonnie Vernon said that “with the
grenades he'd be able to take out two or three 5-0s, he called them,
which is the term for law enforcement, at a time.” AER 850.

11. Cox’s other preparations for “2-4-1”

Cox, Barney and Olson implemented a communication plan, a way
to avoid detection by law enforcement, of using “red” phones and
“yellow” phones to speak with each other. AER 822-31, 1565. The “red”
phones were to be used for the most secure means of communication in

a situation such as when Cox got arrested or “2-4-1" was initiated. AER
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with a Glock firearm. AER 1421-23. Cox told Barney and Olson that he
“would love to get a center fire silencer.” AER 1425; See also AER 808-
09. Cox also told Olson that “we just did a little tutorial yesterday on . .
. homemade silencer for .22s.” AER 1425. Cox, Barney, and Olson also
talked about subsonic ammunition. AER 1434,

Cox described how to modify a firearm to make it fully automatic.
AER 1435-45. Cox had previously told Olson that he had a fully
automatic weapon and that it was a weapon that he made himself.

AER 1409-10.

Cox, Barney, and Olson also discussed a missing grenade
launcher. AER 832-33, 1448-49. Cox asked Olson if he had gotten a
grenade launcher, but Olson said he did not see one when they moved
the weapons from Cox’s property. AER 1448. Barney added “And I
know we haven’t used it on any of the little missions that we've done.
The only one we used is the one with the spider on it and I had it
mounted to my AR with HOV . . . hornet’s nest.” AER 1449.

Cox, Barney, and Olson met again at Barney’s rental c;bins. AER
837-39. During the conversation, Cox told Olson that he’d like to have

some pineapple grenades. AER 1456-59. When they were discussing
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828-29: Those with the “red” phones were to carry them at all times
and “have them charged up and ready to go.” AER 829.

In making final preparations, Cox handed some notes to Olson to
deliver for him. AER 815-18, 820-24, 831. One of those notes was to
one of his tenants, listing things for the tenant to take over, and also
describing what Cox was leaving for hl{l;l«\I want you to have my yellow
coat and Ice Axe if I don’t make it bac’i/é,}éé'}d “The AR with the grenade

launcher is yours to if I don’t make it back.” AER 820-24, 1495.

12. Cox’s efforts to obtain database containing
victim information

Cox called Anderson to ask him for people’s addresses. AER 314.
Between August 2010 and March 2011, Cox referred to the existence of
a list with information about government officials, and Anderson’s

connectipn,yvith it several times. ER 376-421; AER 721-31, 745-47,

1278-6 )7.=For example, during a conversation at Cox’s house, Cox told
Olson:

Mr. Cox: Those are the number two troopers.

Mr. Olson: Oh, okay.

Mr. Cox:  And then, uh, do you know who Mike
Anderson is?

Mr. Olson: No, huh-uh.

Mr. Cox: Okay. He has everybody’s — I mean —

Mr. Olson: Address?
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Mr. Cox: And he’s got them all —

Mr. Olson: Yeah. So—so—he’s —he’s got the — you know
all the actual specific addresses and
everything.
Mr. Cox: Yeah.
AER 1280-82. During this same conversation, Cox showed Olson on a
map where Troopers R.W. and B.B. lived. AER 721-24. Cox described
Anderson’s skills, saying “you call him in . . . in 20 seconds, he’s got it.”
AER 1291. At the end of the meeting, Cox told Olson “I can give you a
much better I think this is a much better plan than holing up in a
bunker . . . we know where all your guys live, too, and you want — want

to be friends? . . . We can be friends and e can be enemies. What -

what do you want to be?” AER 12939

tion, Olson contacted Anderson about getting the
database, AE ;551-52,‘,‘ 31, 739-46, but Anderson refused to give the
information to Olsoﬁ. AER 740-41. While at the Vernons’ house, Cox
explained to Olson and the Vernons that “Mike [Anderson] got skittish
of giving you information,” agd that Anderson would rather just give it

directly to Cox. AER 1296! ‘;L;f he Vernons also tried to get the

database from Anderson. AER 3852-53; see also AER 769-73, 1347-48.
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Later, Cox described Anderson as “pretty chickened out.” AER
858-59, 1461. Cox, undeterred by Anderson’s actions, said “it’s not like

he [Anderson] got a monopoly or anything that can’t be achieved the

)

same way >“AER 1462.

B. Final Weapons Transactions and Arrests

Cox, Barney, and Vernon were all arrested on March 10, 2011.
AER 985, 988-89.

1. Vernons purchased pistol, silencer, and
hand grenades and were arrested

Vernon was arrested first. AER 872, 988. The morning of March
10, 2011, Lonnie Vernon and his wife, Karen, met Olson and, after
examining the weapons, the Vernons purchased a .22 pistol and silencer
matched set and two hand grenades from Olson.® Exs. 40, 102, 103;
AER 872-880. Immediately after the transaction was completed, the
Vernons were arrested. AER 988. At the time of arrest, Lonnie Vernon

and Karen Vernon were carrying loaded firearms. Exs. 106, 108.

8 Unbeknowst to the Vernons, and later Cox and Barney, the grenades
provided by Olson were inert.
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Vernon told Clson “[w]e’re gonna stir some shit. We're gonna get that
list, and we’re gonna stir some shit.” AER 1338. Vernon also explained
that his wife “can make a list and we — we could — we could make our
own list, we don’t need [Anderson] to do it.” AER 776; see also Ex. 23-
017.

Cox tried to contact Anderson in early March 2011 to get the
database. AER 852-56. In one day, Cox and Olson spent hours driving
to different locations so Cox could find Anderson and get the database
from him. AER 852-54. While in the vehicle together, Cox directed
Olson where to go so they could find Anderson. Id. When he was
looking for Anderson, Cox told Olson that a friend of his owned the
building that the FBI rented and “if Cox really wanted to, he could get a
key and — get inside the building.” AER 858.

When Cox met with 4

derson a few days later and asked
Anderson for the databdse, d.ji&erson told him that he had already
destroyed the database. EAR 355-57, 361-62, 364. Unbeknowst to Cox,
Anderson had destroyed it within a day or so of Olson contac'ting him

about it, because he was concer%id about what Cox was going to do

[ YR
with the information. AER 368. ﬁ
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2. Cox and Barney examined pistols, silencers,
and hand grenades and were arrested

Later that day, Cox and Barney also met Olson. Exs. 38-39; AER
881-83. Seconds after Cox and Barney got into Olson’s vehicle, Olson
told them that what Fuit;gp got them was matched sets of .22s instead
of the XDs they ordere(?"} ER 1467, Cox responded, “Well, that’s gay.
I have a silenced .22.” AER 1465:%15030 told Cox and Barney that
Fulton did have grenades and they cost $50 each. AER 1469. Cox,
Barney, and Olson then had the following conversation about silenced
22s:

Olson: Because of the, uh — because of the silencers.
They, uh — I guess they go (inaudible) they’ll
go — these ones here will go 200 rounds, these
.22s, before you have to touch anything to the
oil.

Barney: Well, we can go light.

Olson: (Laughter) Yeah.

Barney:  Go light and quiet.

Olson: Well, the thing with a silencer is you're —
you're close range, anyway.

Barney: Yeah.

Olson: You know?

Cox: But see, .22s, even at close range, they take
a long time to die.

AER 1472-78..-
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MR. COX: And hopefully we could like, you know,
get them to go away if -- if they can. But they’re going
to be pretty brazen if they do that, but it’s a reality
that people who are going to be on that security detail —-

MR. OLSON: Need to be prepared for.

MR. COX: -- need to be aware of.

MR. OLSON: Yeah.

MR. COX: Okay. Then the second thing that we
look for volunteers for is the exit crew that might need to
go to a concrete camp, because here’s the plan, call it
what it is, present the evidence, and then say you have no
legitimacy, if you touch us, you are acting in defiance of
the law at your own peril, you have no authority, you can’t
establish any authority, and we will have every right to
defend ourselves from you. Now, not saying we are going
to, but just say we’d have the right.

MR. OLSON: Just saying that we have the right.

MR. COX: And then lock arms, form up and just --
and just walk out of the —- out of the courtroom, not like
run out and flee, but just like walk out --

MR. OLSON: Just walk out with your head high.

MR. COX: -- with —- with your head high and like
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we know who you are and we know who you aren’t, and force
their hand, because at that point, we win either way.

MR. OLSON: Uh-huh.

Caf Koy
MR. COX: If we —- if we say you guys are a joke
Con . al~
and we're walking out and they just sort of look at the --
Gav

look at their shoes, then it shows them for what they are.
MR. OLSON: Uh-huh. our guys Gov

¢.

MR. COX: If they -- if they say you guys are a
: . Sy
joke and we’re walking out, can -- do you —-- can you refute
. Gov - S
this, because if you can refute this, I’11 just cooperate

N Gav Kov ébvf
willingly, and they say we can’t refute that, we’re just

. . Cox Copl
going to use savage violence on you, and we’ve just been as
; CoN Gov .
polite as can be, and we let them use savage violence, then
Gav
—-— then that shows them for what they are.
MR. OLSON: .Uh-huh.
L£oX (=
MR. COX: 'And then we’ve got to go —- we’ve got to
. CaX Gov )
go down to jail, we don’t let them take our picture, we
don’t have any ID,AWhat’s your name? John Lock, oh, I'm
Thomas Jefferson, and this is my buddy, Sam Adams, you
know, what matter —-

MR. BARTEL: Sovereign so and so.

MR. COX: Yeah -- yeah. And so I'm king.
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Gerald Olson - Direct 88

1 and something involving a courthouse?
2 A Yes, an exit crew for the -- for the courthouse.
3 0] Can you -- you tell the jury about your understanding of
4 what was going to happen with respect to these two events?
5 A There was going to be a court hearing and he wanted an
6 exit crew to -- to go in with him to the courtroom hearing and
2 show up in court and guard him as he came out of court, gather
8 around and -- and guard him.
9 Q And from -- from court, was there anything going to happen
10 after that?
11 A As far as what?

K e e 12 Q Well, was he going someplace after court?

é 13 A I don't recall that.

{ Aree K, 14 0 Okay.

'YV S A 15 A I -- I can probably, if I looked at a 1023, I could

16 probably be reminded, but --

éRrock 17 0 Okay. If we need to. But let's --

Q’J-Dw\ 18 A Okay.

éV{O& ,’(4‘\_% Q I want to go back for a second then. With respect to the
20 security detail, there was discussion about killing federal law
21 enforcement?

s / O N 22 A Yes.
O!% >
23 Q And being prepared to do that?

S Kok =S
24

Olson ——
25

A Yes. He =- he said, 'You need to be prepared to kill them

and stomp them through the ice if you have to.'
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Addendum to the Presentence Report
Francis Schaeffer Cox, 3:11-cr-00022-RJB-1

12. With regard to the KJNP security detail, defense counsel wrote, The FBI case agent summarized
the meeting where Mr. Cox planned for his KJNP appearance on November 23rd, 2010in the
Jollowing e-mail:

From: Sutherland, Richard A. Jr.

To: Gunty, Matthew P.

Sent: Mon Nov 22 18:50:342010

Subject: Cox Update

Here is a super-brief update so you can try to answer some questions if
you are

asked:

1) Cox had a court date for tomorrow for a state weapons charge

2) The Troopers continued his case to Dec 10

3) Cox had a "7 step plan" planned to coincide with this court date

4) He calls the plan "Operation Nehemiah 5"

5) His plan involves civil disobedience, media coverage, and a
declaration that the

Alaska Court system as void and possessing no authority over him

6) He plans to call on the Troopers and demand a truce

7) He will provide identification to his followers to identify them to
Troopers so that

the Troopers leave them alone and refer them to Cox

8) He has a TV appearance on live TV scheduled for toni ght to kick off
his big plan

FED_00011344

In a recorded meeting with a CHS5, he stated over and over that he did
not want

violence and that he did not want to see any cops hurt. He has armed a
militia

security team with C§ gas and Hornet grenades as a diversion squad if
needed.

There is more to the overall plan, but this is a overview.(emphasis
added)

Response: The objection is noted for the record, but does not appear to warrant a
response from the probation officer.

13. With regard to the defendant’s belief that the defendant believed a federal hit team was out to
kill him, defense counsel wrote, While the government has denied that there was ever a  federal
hit team sent to kill Mr. Cox and his family, M. Cox repeated this fear to a large number of
people to include his wife and his father. He truly, if mistakenly believed this to be the case.
In addition Mr. Cox fear was reinforced by comments made to him by an M.P. at Fort
Wainwright. Steve Gibson testified at trial as follows: (15-195-196)
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2. Cox instigates confrontations with his
targets?!

Cox instigated confrontations with federal officials, including TSA
employees T.B., D.B., and J.H., and DHS employee N.C., and with state
officials, including Alaska State Trooper R.W. AER 418-25, 439-40,
446-47, 450-71, 903-09, 911-20.

TSA employee T.B. had hosted lunches at her house for college
students from her church, which Cox attended (including wear body
armor once). AER 911-14. At one point Cox called T.B. and asked
whether he was on the “no-fly” list. AER 914-15. T.B. refused to
provide Cox with that information and told T.S., the federal security

director at the airport in Fairbanks, that Cox attempted to obtain that 2

information from her. AER 915-16. T.B. was added to Cox’s “hit list{" A/

Cox approached D ee N.C. when she was off-duty but in

uniform at Walmart with her daughter. AER N.C. described

4TSA employees T.B. and D.B., DHS employee N.C., Alaska State
Troopers R.W. and M.J., and State of Alaska OCS employee W.W. each
testified regarding their interactions with Cox. AER 371-77, 418-36,
439-40, 446-47, 450-71, 903-09, 911-920.

10
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